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Penal Code -  Section 296 -  Conviction -  Credibility and Testimonial trustwor­
thiness of a witness-Is the Court of Appeal the Jury or the trial Judge? -  Test 
of Spontaneity-Test of contemporaenity -  Test of promptness and Test of
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improbability -  Belated first Statement -  Evidence of the handwriting expert -  
Dock Statement -  Deliberate lies ? -  Effect -  Evidence Ordinance -  section 
5(2)(1), section 8(2) sections 17-38, section 32(1), section 60(1), section 60(2) 
Dying Declaration -  Circumstance of the transaction? -  Difference between 
evidential burden and legal burden? -  Shifting of same -  Hearsay Rule -  
Analysis of Evidence.

The accused-appellant -  Officer-in-Charge of the Police Station, Kobeigane -  
was indicted with having caused the death the of one N., punishable under 
section 296. After trial the accused was sentenced to death.

HELD

Per Jayasuriya, J.,

“It is not the function of a Court of Appeal to retry a prosecution on the 
facts and indulge in a re-appraisal of the facts”

1) Just because the statement of a witness is belated the Court is not enti­
tled to reject such testimony. In applying the test of spontaneity, the test 
of contemporanenity and the test of promptness the court ought to 
scrupulously proceed to exercise the reasons for the delay. If the rea­
sons for the delay are justifiable and probable the trial judge is entitled to 
act on the evidence of a witness who had made a belated statement.

2) The Examiner of Questioned Documents has very correctly placed 
before the court and media the grounds and reasons for his opinion, 
placed before the Judge the photograph enlargements and demonstrat­
ed before Court the process of comparison thereby educating Court in 
regard to the points of similarity.

3) The accused had uttered a deliberate lie on a material issue -  love let­
ters written by the deceased to the accused-because he knew that if he 
told the truth he could be sealing his fate, if such was the motive the 
utterance of such lie would corroborate the prosecution case.
“The principle is that a lie on some material issue by a party may indicate 
consieousness that if he tells the truth he will lose."

4. Evidence volunteered by the mother of the deceased in regard to the 
entirety of what her daughter N narrated to her before she left the 
parental home on that day, is admissible in evidence -  s. 32(1). The 
statement of the deceased to her mother is a fact inextricably interwoven 
and connected to the circumstances of the shooting and setting on fire 
which resulted in her death.

5. Expression circumstances of the transaction is not so wide as circum­
stances, which would constitute circumstantial evidence to the fact in 
issue in a case. Where there is a close proximate relationship between 
the happening of the event and the murderous assault such circum­
stances would constitute circumstances of the prosecution.
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6. The dock statement is highly deficient. The incriminating circumstances 
established against him gave rise to presumptions and inferences which 
shifted the evidential burden as opposed to the legal burden to explain 
away the highly incriminating circumstances.

7. Hearsay documentary evidence could only be admitted if it could be 
brought within any one of the sections provided for the exceptions to the 
hearsay rule -  sections 17-38 of the Evidence Ordinance.

8. Evidence which merely constitutes the motive for the commission of the 
crime and such incidents which take place during a period of time long 
prior to the commission of this criminal act would not constitute a cir­
cumstance of the transaction, particularly where the evidence is relevant 
otherwise than as motive alone and where there is a close proximate 
relationship between the happening of that event and the murderous 
assault, such circumstances would constitute a circumstance of the 
transaction.

Per Jayasuriya, J.

'The Principles laid down in R v Cochrane and R v Burdette do not 
place a legal or a persuasive burden on the accused to prove his inno­
cence or to prove that he committed no offence but these two decisions 
on proof of a prima facie case and on proof of highly incriminating cir­
cumstances shift the evidential burden to the accused to explain away 
the highly incriminating circumstances when he had both the power and 
the opportunity to do so."

9. Statements are made only logically relevant in as much as they stand in 
the relationship of cause and effect to the fact in issue by the operation 
of s. 8(2).

APPEAL from the High Court of Kurunegala.
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NINIAN JAYASURIYA, J.

The accused-appe llan t, A jit Devapriya Sam arakoon, who was  
a t all re levant tim es, O ffice r-in -Charge o f the Police S tation at 
Kobeigane, was ind icted in the H igh Court o f Kurunega la w ith hav­
ing caused the death o f M anan lage Malin i a lias N ilanth i at 
Kobe igane on o r abou t the 25th O ctober 1989 and tha t he thereby  
com m itted the o ffence o f m urder pun ishab le under section 296 of 
the Pena l Code.

The sa id Malin i a lias N ilanth i was a ve ry  p re tty  and beautifu l 
girl, o f 18 years o f age who had been crowned as the Beauty  
Queen (Ayurudu Kumari) a t the New Year ce lebra tions organised  
by the o fficers o f the Kobe igane Police S ta tion and the residents of 
Kobe igane in 1987. She was fa ir com plex ioned, pretty and having
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long hair s tre tch ing towards her legs and was ra ther p lum p in her 
constitu tion. She was the daugh te r o f w itnesses who gave ev i­
dence a t the tria l named Manana lage D ing iriya and M anana lage  
Emalin. The fa the r M anana lage D ing iriya was financ ia lly  in d ire  
stra its bordering on poverty  and he was em ployed as a  coconu t 
p lucker on ne ighbouring estates.

The prosecution case was presented on the  bas is tha t the  
accused appe llan t had a love a ffa ir w ith  the deceased N ilan th i and 20 

certain le tters a lleged to have been w ritten by the accused appe l­
lant exto lling his love fo r her, were p roduced a t the  tria l. -  (X3), 
marked a t the trial as T4 and T5.

The accused den ied the charge and in the  course  o f h is dock  
statement he denied ca tego rica lly  tha t he had a love a ffa ir w ith  
Nilanthi and he also den ied  tha t he eve r w ro te  any  le tte rs to her. 
A fte r the accused m ade his dock s ta tem en t learned tria l judge , 
heard subm iss ions o f the S ta te Counse l and the  De fence Counse l, 
and the rea fte r de live red his judgem en t on the  10th o f O c tobe r 1997  
finding the accused gu ilty  o f the  charge o f m urde r and sen tenced 30 

the accused to death. The accused has pre fe rred an appea l to  th is  
court aga inst the find ings,conv ic tion  and sen tence p ronounced and  
imposed on him by the learned H igh C ou rt .Judge o f Kurunega la .

An eye w itness to th is  a lleged inc iden t nam ed Karunanayake  
M udiyanse lage Chu las iri gave ev idence aga ins t the accused  
incrim inating him in re la tion to  the charge pre fe rred . A t the a rgu ­
ment of th is appeal, lea rned P res iden t’s Counse l appearing  fo r the  
accused-appe llan t sough t to im pugn the ev idence o f the  eye  w it­
ness on the basis o f sho rtcom ings and con trad ic tions in h is ev i­
dence, wh ich in the subm iss ion  o f learned counse l m ade h im  an 40 
untrustworthy and an inc red ib le  w itness. However, it m ust be  
emphasized that the tria l Judge  who had the all im portan t fac to r o f 
the dem eanour and depo rtm en t o f the w itness, has a fte r g iv ing his  
mind to the a lleged con trad ic tions and de fic ienc ies in w itness. 
Chulasiri's evidence , has a rrived at the conc lus ion upho ld ing the  
testim onia l trus tworth iness and cred ib ility  o f the w itness. Vide  
Judgm ent pages 587 onwards, page 627 and page 720.

A t the conclus ion o f the a rgum ent in th is appea l th is cou rt was  
unable to hold tha t the tria l ju dge ’s find ings in regard to cred ib ility
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and testim onia l trustworth iness, were not justified or erroneous. As 
succinctly po in ted out by Justice Soertsz, ACJ in King v Endoris C), 
it is not the function o f a Court o f Appea l to  retry a prosecution on 
the facts and indulge in a re-appra isa l o f the facts though en thu­
s iastica lly  encouraged by learned counse l who often preferred  
subm iss ions as if the Court o f Appea l is the ju ry or the tria l judge. 
Both the prov is ions o f the fo rm er Court o f C rim inal Appeal 
Ord inance and the provisions o f the C rim ina l Procedure Code  
c learly  spell ou t the ju risd ic tion o f the Court o f Appeal in hearing an 
appea l pre ferred by an accused-appe llan t. In th is context Justice  
Soertsz in King v Endoris (supra) remarked thus:

“Counsel appearing in support o f th is  app lication addressed us  
as if we were the Jury in the Ass ize Court but our function has  
c learly been laid down by the Court o f C rim inal Appeal 
O rd inance, is to exam ine the ev idence in the case in o rde r to  
sa tis fy  ourse lves w ith the ass is tance o f counsel tha t there is 
ev idence upon wh ich the Ju ry  should have reached a verd ict 
which they cam e to and a lso s im ila rly  to  exam ine the charge  
o f the tria l Judge to sa tis fy  ou rse lves tha t there has no t been  
anv m is-d irection o r non-d irection.

For s im ila r express ion o f v iew  by the Jud ic ia l Comm ittee o f the  
Privy Council - V ide the judgm ent o f Lord Tucker in Ebert Silva v 
King <2>-

A lthough learned Counsel who appeared fo r the accused at 
the tria l seemed to trea t w itness Chulas iri as an accomplice, 
Chu las iri s tead fastly in the w itness box, asserted tha t he was  
unaware o f any plan on the part o f the accused to kill the deceased  
when he accom panied the accused on the journey in the van on 
tha t d isastrous night.

The Learned P residen t’s Counse l who appeared a t the appeal 
subm itted tha t on the evidence , Chu las iri cannot be treated as an  
accom plice and he argued the appea l on the footing tha t w itness  
Chu las iri was not an accomplice . However, learned President 
Counse l impugned the ev idence o f w itness Chulasiri as inherently  
im probab le , on the ground that his sta tem ents were made a fte r a 
long de lay and there fore were belated and on the basis o f con tra ­
d ic tions, hav ing regard to the con ten ts o f th sta tem ents made on



2.3.1991 by w itness Chulasiri to  his superio r o ffice rs o f the Army, to  
the evidence g iven by h im  in the non-sum m ary p roceed ings in the  
Magistra te ’s Court.

W itness Chulas iri in the course o f his tes tim ony vo lunteered  
before the H igh Court o f Kurunega la  referred to the fo llow ing  
salient facts: Tha t the accused who was the O ffice r-in -C harge o f 
the Kobe igane po lice sta tion in itia lly  rented the fron t room  of a 
house owned by as G ram a Sevaka wh ich ad jo ins the po lice station  
and thereafte r the accused occup ied a bunga low  s itua ted opposite  
the police sta tion and tha t the w itness had b rdugh t h is meals a t 
times from  the police mess and a t tim es from  the w itness ’s own  
home. On particu lar occasions, it is a lleged, tha t when the w itness  
brought his meals the accused was ve ry  pa rticu la r in advancing  
right up to the door and accep ting h is meals. On the day N ilanth i 
met with her death, the w itness had taken the accused ’s a ll three  
meals fo r the day in a baske t and as the house was c losed when  
he called out to the accused, the accused had com e ou t in a sem i 
dressed state covering h im se lf w ith  a towel and a hu rried ly  worn  
pair of shorts and had opened the doo r ha lf w ay and had taken the  
basket on all th ree occasions, w itness says, con tra ry  to  the normal 
routine fo llowed the accused d id  not pe rm it him  to  en te r the  house  
and leave the m eals on the  tab le . The  w itness had been work ing as  
a G rama A rakshaka N iladari, bu t a ttached to  the  Koba igane police  
fo r abou t tw o yea rs  from  the  yea r 1987. The  accused lived a lone in 
th is bunga low  and the accused was not m arried a t tha t tim e. A  few  
days before the w itness ceased to w o rk a t the po lice  s ta tion , it is 
alleged tha t the accused had ca lled him  one even ing and required  
him to bring the wh ite  co loured Toyota H iace van owned by a pe r­
son named Jo th ira tne  from  its d rive r S .R . G unara tneham y along  
with two tyres.

G unara tneham y lived a t the  Ku liyap itiya  C o -opera tive  S tores. 
W itness  had p ro ceeded  to  the  C oope ra tive  S to re , m e t 
G unaratneham y and had conveyed the m essage o f the accused to  
bring the said van w ith  tw o tyres. G unara tneham y in pursuance o f 
tha t m essage had b rough t the sa id van a t abou t 6  p.m . to the police  
station a fte r obta in ing two tyres from  the lo rries wh ich were parked  
at the Coopera tive Society. Having parked the van a t the police s ta ­
tion, G unara tneham y had le ft a t abou t 7 .30 p.m . on tha t day. The

QA Ajit Samarakoon v The Republic (Kobaigane Murder Case) 215
(Jayasuriya, J.)

90

100

110

120



216 Sri Lanka Law Reports [2004] 2  Sri L.R

accused had invited the w itness to ge t in to the said van and the  
accused had driven the  van from  the po lice sta tion to the accused ’s 
house. Therea fte r the accused had reversed the said van right up 
to  the fron t door o f h is house and had proceeded into the said  
house. Therea fte r the accused and the deceased N ilanthi had 
com e ou t o f tha t house. N ilanth i seated herse lf on the fron t seat in 130 
the van on the left hand side, the accused sa t a t the driv ing seat 
and the w itness had got into the  rear seat o f the van. On th is occa­
sion the accused had a LMG gun w ith him  which he a lways ca r­
ried and the accused had kept the gun on the floo r o f the van near 
the seat. Therea fte r the accused drove the van w ith the two other 
passengers leaving the bunga low  in the d irection of K ithagama  
junc tion . Then the accused had stopped the van,turned it and had uo  
driven it fu rther towards the junction and a t tha t s tage the accused  
had stated -  “ le t us get out o f the van and proceed on foot to Mr. 
Dunuw ila ’s house situated on Amaton Estate” . The accused had 
got down firs t from  the van and had opened the fron t left hand side  
door to enab le N ilanth i to ge t down and the rea fte r the accused and  
Nilanth i had proceeded about six to seven fee t from  where the van  
was halted. The accused had fired the gun wh ich was in his hand  
at N ilan th i and the w itness had seen fire em anating from  the gun  
and heard the noise o f the gun shots. The rea fte r the accused had  
ins tructed the w itness to bring the two tyres from  the van. W hen he  
shouted aga in  a t the w itness, the w itness had brought the two tyres  
from  the  van. The rea fte r the accused had lifted N ilanth i and placed  
her body on the top o f the two tyres. The accused had therea fte r 150 
placed som e tubes ove r her body and had poured petro l ove r her 
body from  the  can wh ich was transported in the van. Thereafter, the  
accused had d irected the w itness to se t fire  to N ilan th i’s body. But 
when the w itness refused to do so, the accused had lit a  p iece of 
paper and thrown it ove r her body w ith  the resu lt tha t her body  
caugh t fire  and the rea fte r the accused and the w itness had moved  
away from  the scene in the van. Having returned to the police s ta ­
tion, the accused had offered to transport the two officers who were  
schedu led to perform  security functions a t the Provincia l Council 
M in is te r’s house. The rea fte r w ith those two o fficers and the w itness 160 

in the van, the accused had driven the van to Gunara tneham y’s 
place o f residence. The two officers who had re linquished security  
du ty  a t the P rovincia l Council M in is te r’s house had a lso boarded,



the van driven by the accused. A fte r the  accused had se t fire  to  
N ilan th i’s  body he had addressed the w itness and requested th u s :-  
“on ly  you and I are aware o f th is  inc ident. Do not te ll anybody” . 
W itness agreed because he was a fra id  tha t he too  wou ld  be killed  
by the accused.

On the next morn ing the accused had sum m oned the w itness  
again to h is office and repeated h is ea rlie r request no t to  d ivu lge  
the incident to  anybody. Subsequen t to  th is  inc iden t on ano the r day  
in the even ing the accused had d irec ted the  w itness to  ge t ready to  
proceed on a  jou rney to apprehend a JVP  suspect. The w itness  
had proceeded in a veh ic le  d riven by the  accused toge the r w ith  
two o ther o fficers towards N ikaweratiya . The  accused had stopped  
the veh icle near the  bridge and nea r a jam  tree  and wa ited in tha t 
position fo r a long time. A t tha t stage the  w itness had inqu ired from  
a sergeant o ffice r how long they wou ld  have to w a it to  accom plish  
the ir ob jec t and a t tha t s tage the se rgean t had sm iled in a susp i­
c ious unusual m anner and d irec ted the  w itness  to  inqu ire  from  the  
accused. The inqu iry  m ade from  the o the r o ffice r produced the  
same result, thereupon the  w itness ’s fea rs w e re  a lerted and he 
believed tha t the accused had b rough t h im  there to exterm inate  
him. The w itness thereupon pre tended tha t he wou ld  proceed to  
the jung le  fo r to ile t purposes and the rea fte r had fled through the  
jung le  and reached a friend ’s house, taken re fuge in tha t house and  
induced the friend to in form  his paren ts o f h is whereabouts . The  
witness d id not proceed to h is work p lace and report fo r du ty  a fte r  
tha t incident. The accused pers isten tly kep t pursu ing and fo llow ing  
the w itness therea fte r w hereve r the w itness p roceeded. To be freed  
from  the pursu it o f the accused the w itness conce ived the idea o f 
jo in ing the arm y and he jo ined the a rm y on the 12th o f Novem ber 
1989. A fte r a tra in ing period a t D iya ta lawa fo r th ree and a half 
months and having worked a t the A rm y Headquarte rs in Co lom bo  
fo r th ree months, the w itness was posted to Battica loa. The  
accused had te lephoned the arm y o fficers sta tioned a t Battica loa  
and made inquiries abou t the w itness. In v iew  o f these pe rs is ten t 
inqu iries the w itness had narrated an account o f the inc iden t lead­
ing the N ilan th i’s death to M a jo r Raja Fernando. The accused had  
secured a transfe r to the Battica loa police wh ile  the w itness was  
stationed a t W elikande, Valachchenai.
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M ajor Raja Fernando had instructed the w itness to give the  
deta ils  in w riting and the deta ils were w ritten ou t by the Ch ie f C lerk  
and the  w itness had signed tha t docum ent. W itness sta ted tha t he  
still a fra id wh ile  m aking the s ta tem ent due to his be lie f tha t anybody  
known to the accused m ay be working a t the arm y camp at 
Battica loa. On the 19th o f March 1991 the arm y authorities sent the  
w itne ss  w ith  a no the r o ffice r to  th e  C rim ina l Inves tiga tion  
Departm ent o ffice in Colombo. On tha t occasion he made a sta te­
ment to the C rim ina l Investigation Department. It is h ighly sign ifi- 210  
can t tha t the w itness had not been contrad ic ted a t tha t tria l in 
regard to the con ten ts o f th is sta tement.

Learned P residen t Counse l ra ised the issue in the course of 
his argum ent, though Chulasiri w as not an accomplice , is not the  
vers ion o f Chu las iri so inherently im probab le when he states that 
the accused had been so foo lha rdy as to take w ith him  a mere w it­
ness aga ins t h im se lf on th is a lleged m ission, wh ich he could have  
so conven ien tly  ach ieved him self. Learned P resident’s Counsel 
utilised the Test o f Im probab ility  to  assa il the vers ion narrated by  
w itness Chulasiri. Th is subm ission has to be v iewed in relation to 220 

the a ttendan t facts and c ircum stances o f the case. Th is incident 
happened during the period o f te rro r ra ised by the JVP  insurgents  
who had held out th reats to the lives o f po lice officers. From the  
account narrated by Chulasiri, it is ev iden t tha t the accused in tend­
ed to use the w itness as a parti-ceps crim in is when he directed him  
to bring the tyres and place them  on the ground, when he directed  
him  to fe tch the can o f petro l wh ich was inside the van, when he 
d irected the w itness to hold N llan th ’s legs when he carried her body  
and p laced it on the tyres and when he d irected and requested him  
to set fire  to N llan th i’s body which had been m oistened w ith petrol. 230 

The accused had presum ab ly be lieved and a expected that the w it­
ness wou ld  obey all his com mands and there fo re  take an active  
part in the crim ina l act so as to render him  an accomplice and a  
gu ilty  associa ted in the crime, in wh ich even t the w itness would  
assum e the role o f a gu ilty confedera te and there fore would not 
d ivu lge the incident to any th ird party and thereby refrain from  
incrim inating h imself. V iewed in th is light, it cou ld not be argued  
with jus tifica tion tha t the course o f action taken was extrem ely foo l­
hardy on the part of the accused-appe llan t and there fore the ve r­
sion is in trins ica lly improbable. 240
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The learned P re s iden t's  C ounse l re lied  on the  Test o f 
Spontaneity and con tended tha t the  sta tem en t m ade to the  C ID  
made by w itness Chu las iri w as be la ted ly m ade a fte r a  lapse o f a  
period o f nearly one and a ha lf years. It w as argued tha t C hu las iri’s  
firs t revelation was in a  le tte r addressed to h is superio rs in the  arm y  
on 2.3.1991 and even in tha t d isc losure he has adm itted  a t the tria l 
tha t some aspects m entioned there in  are inco rrec t and fa lse. 
Learned P re s iden t’s C ounse l a lso  re lied  on  th e  Tes t o f 
Inconsistency between his tes tim ony in C ou rt and the  con ten ts  o f  
the s ta tem ent m ade to  the  a rm y o ffice rs and the  ev idence  g iven 250 

before the learned M ag istra te  a t the non sum m ary inquiry.
In th is con tex t it is re levan t to  cons ide r the  issue o f the  c red i­

b ility o f the w itness Chu las iri in the ligh t o f the  p rinc ip les enunc ia t­
ed by Lord Roch in Bhojraj v  Sita Ram <3) -  Lord Roche has se t ou t 
the real test fo r re jecting o r accep ting  on the bas is o f tes tim on ia l 
trustworth iness in these words:

“How cons is ten t is the  s to ry w ith  itse lf? (cons is tency pe r se).
How does it s tand the tes t o f c ross-exam ina tion? (s tab ility  
under cross exam ina tion ) How  fa r it fits in w ith  the  res t o f the  
evidence and the c ircum stances o f the  case (incons is tency 260 

in ter se)".
W itness  S .R . G una ra tneham y in h is  te s tim ony  has c le a rly  

sta ted  th a t the  w itn e ss  C hu la s ir i conveyed  a  m essage  from  the  
accused  th a t the  accused  w an ted  the  Toyo ta  H iace  veh ic le  d r i­
ven by G una ra tneham y w ith  tw o  ty re s . W itness  G una ra tneham y  
has s ta ted  th a t he ob ta ined  the  tw o  ty res , p u t in in to  the  van  and  
b rough t the  van  to  the  po lice  s ta tio n  and le ft it th e re a fte r hav ing  
had a conve rsa tion  w ith  the  accused . He has s ta ted  th a t he took  
the tw o ty res  o ff a  lo rry  pa rked  a t the  C oope ra tive . W hen  he m et 
the  accused  a t the  po lice  s ta tio n  a t a bou t 7 to  7 .30  p .m . the  270  

accused  had asked  h im  w he th e r G una ra tneham y cou ld  lend  the  
van fo r abou t an hour. W hen  he ag reed  to  the  reques t, the  
a ccused  w ho  w a s  h o ld in g  th e  p o s t o f O ff ic e r - in -C h a rg e  
Kobe igana  po lice  s ta tion , had d riven  the  van and  d ropped  the  
M anage r G una tila ke  and  G una ra tneham y a t the  C oope ra tive  
and  th a t he th e re a fte r  had d r iv e n  aw a y  in th e  van . 
G una ra tneham y a lso  s ta ted  in ev idence  th a t the  accused  cam e  
back in the van w ith  C hu las iri and tw o o the r po lice  o ffice rs  at
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abou t 9 to 9 .30  p.m . on tha t day and had returned the van. 
G una ra tneham y has s ta ted tha t be fo re  tak ing  the  van to the 280 
po lice  s ta tion  in com p liance  w ith  the  m essage sen t by the  
accused , he had c leaned  the  van  and  rem oved the  dus t and d irt 
in s ide  the  van . The rea fte r, a fte r hav ing  rece ived the van w hen he 
p roceeded  to  wash the  van , on the  nex t day  he had d iscove red  
tw o  ha ir p ins ins ide  the  van  and he had th row n the  ha ir p ins away  
be lie v ing  them  to  be item s o f no s ign ificance . T h is  ev idence na r­
ra ted  by  w itness  G una ra tneham y was not sub jec ted  to any cha l­
lenge, im pugnm en t no r a ssa ilm en t in cross exam ina tion  by 
lea rned  counse l w ho appea red  fo r the  accused a t the tria l. Thus  
the  unassa iled  and un -im pugned  ev idence  o f G una ra tneham y 290 
co rrobo ra ted  a pa rt o f the m a te ria l ve rs ion  vo lun tee red  by w it­
ness C hu las iri a t the tria l. Thus in ce rta in  m ateria l respects , the  
ev idence  o f w itness  C hu las iri fits  in w ith  the un -assa iled ev i­
dence  g iven by w itness  G una ra tneham y and the p roved a tte n ­
dan t c ircum s tances  upon th is  p rosecu tion . Th is  aspect o f suppo rt 
and subs tan tia tion  a ris ing  from  the  tes tim ony o f G una ra tneham y  
has g rea tly  in fluenced  the tria l Judge  in accep ting  and acting  
upon the  ev idence  o f w itness  C hu las iri.

J u s t because  the  s ta tem en t o f a w itness  is be la ted  the Court 
is no t en titled  to  re jec t such tes tim ony . In app ly ing  the Test o f 300 

S pon ta ne ity  the  Test o f C on tem po raen ity  and the  Test o f 
P rom p tness  the  C ou rt ough t to  sc rupu lou s ly  p roceed to  exam ine  
the  reasons fo r the delay. If the  reasons fo r the  de lay  adduced  by  
the  w itness  a re ju s tif ia b le  and p robab le  the  tria l Judge  is en titled  
to  a c t on the  ev idence  o f a w itness  w ho  had made a be la ted  
s ta tem en t. V ide  in th is  con te x t the  pe rtin en t obse rva tions  o f 
Jus tice  T.S. Fe rnando  in Pauling de Cross v  The Queen (4) a t 180  
V ide a lso  Narapal Singh v  The State of HariyanaS5)

W itness  C hu las iri a t the tria l has re fe rred  to the repea ted  
p leas and reques ts  on the pa rt o f the  accused , he ld ou t to him , 310  

no t to d ivu lge  th is  in c iden t to  anybody  and the fac t tha t th is  in c i­
den t w as on ly  known to the  accused  and the w itness. He has 
a lso  re fe rred  to the N ikaw e ra tiya  ep isode  where he en te rta ined  
reasonab le  app rehens ion  and dange r to h is own life. In v iew  of 
such dange r em ana ting  from  the  accused  he had dec ided to jo in  
the  S ri Lanka  Army. He had re fe rred  to the  pe rs is ten t conduc t of
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the accused in pu rsu ing  h im  w he re ve r he w en t, w he th e r to the  
boutique o r to the town. He has re fe rred  to  the  te lephone  
inqu iries wh ich the  accused  had m ade abou t h is m ovem en ts  
even when he was s ta tio ned  in the  a rm y cam p a t W e likanda  and  
a t Ba ttica loa . He s ta tes  th rough  fe a r o f rep risa ls  to h is  pe rsona l 
sa fe ty  he re fra ined from  d isc lo s ing  th is  in c id en t to  the  au tho ritie s  
and tha t he even m ade h is s ta tem en t to h is  su pe rio r o ff ic e r in the  
arm y on ly  on the  2nd o f M arch 1991. He had no t m ade a  com ­
p le te  accoun t o f the in c id en t and  th a t he had m ade ce rta in  un true  
assertions and fa c ts  because  he genu ine ly  fe a red  th a t the  pe r­
son to w hom  he m ade the  s ta tem en t m ay be know n  o r re la ted  to  
the accused . T he  accused  w as  a lso  tra n s fe rred  to  the  B a ttica loa  
po lice  s ta tion  as  O ffice r- in -C ha rge  and he had been  m ak ing  se v ­
era l inqu iries  abou t the  m ovem en ts  o f the  w itn e ss  from  o ffice rs  
in the army. In h is s ta tem en t w h ich  has m arked  D29 in d e sc rib ­
ing the shoo ting  he had s ta ted  th a t the  a ccused  in s tru c te d  h im  to  
push the  van  and w hen  he cou ld  no t do  so , th e  accused  had  
asked N ilan th i to  ge t dow n and  push the  veh ic le  and  w hen  he  
was beh ind the  veh ic le  an try ing  to ge t ou t, th e  accused  sho t 
N ilan th i and th e re a fte r tha t he go t sca red  and ran away.

In h is ev idence  a t the  tria l the  pos itio n s  in w h ich  the  pa rties  
were p laced sho rtly  be fo re  the  shoo ting  has been d iffe ren tly  
described by the  w itness  and he has s ta ted  th a t a fte r the  en tire  
inc iden t he go t in to  the  van and p roceeded  aw ay  from  the scene , 
when the van was be ing  d riven  by the  accused  to the  po lice  s ta ­
tion. Th is  d isc repancy  in regard to the  pos itio n s  and the  d is c re p ­
ancy o f ge tting  sca red  and runn ing  aw ay  w as e xp la ined  by the  
w itness w hen he s ta te d -

“ I d id not w rite  the  tru th  in the  le tte r (com p la in t) s igned  and  
handed ove r to the  army. I d id  no t know  th a t the  pe rson  I 
com p la ined  to was known o r re la ted  to  the  accused . I d id  
not run aw ay as s ta ted  in tha t le tter. B u t I cam e back  to the  
po lice  s ta tion  w ith  the  accused ."
The po in t to  be em phas ized  is tha t the  e v idence  th a t w it­

ness gave in the H igh C ou rt tha t he go t in to  the  van a fte r the  in c i­
den t and t ie  cam e back  to the  po lice  s ta tion  w hen  it w as d riven  
by the accused  is subs tan tia ted  and co rrobo ra ted  by the  e v i­
dence o f G una ra tneham y. G una ra tneham y has s ta ted  to  C ou rt
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th a t the  accused  cam e to  the  C oope ra tive  d riv ing  the van  on tha t 
occas ion  and ins ide the  van the re  was the  w itness  C hu las iri and  
tw o  o th e r po lice  o ffice rs . Thus , though  C hu las iri’s s ta tem en t has  
been m ade a fte r the  lapse o f nea rly  one and a ha lf yea rs  a fte r 
the  happen ing  o f the  in c iden t,hav ing  regard to the  exp lana tion  
g iven  by h im  to  the  tr ia l Judge , th a t exp lana tion  canno t be ad ju - 360 
d ica ted  as be ing to ta lly  unconv in c ing  as con tended  fo r by  
lea rned  P re s iden t’s Counse l.

A cco rd ing  to  the  ev idence  o f C hu las iri it is the  conduc t and  
ac tions  o f the  accused  w h ich  had con tribu ted  bo th  to  the  de lay  in 
m ak ing  the  s ta tem en t and to the  d isc repanc ies  in the s ta tem en t 
as rega rds the  even ts  w h ich  im m ed ia te ly  p receded the shoo ting .
V ide  the  tr ia l Ju dge ’s obse rva tions  in h is judgem en t a t pages  
587, 589 , 5 9 0 ,5 9 1 . The  reasons adduced  by C hu las iri a re  equa l­
ly  app licab le  to  the  fa ilu re  on h is  pa rt to  d ivu lge  th is  in c iden t to 
M anana lage  D ing iriya , the  fa th e r o f N ilan th i. It is true  tha t 370 

C hu las iri in h is depos itio n  a t the  non -sum m ary  p roceed ings con ­
duc ted  in the  M ag is tra te ’s C ou rt had s ta ted  tha t he though t tha t 
N ilan th i w as sho t by the  JV P  -  vide D32. However, the  tria l 
Judge  who had the  bene fit o f the  dem eanou r and depo rtm en t o f 
w itness  C hu las iri w hen  he w as g iv ing  ev idence  a t the  tria l, has 
a rrived  a t a fa vou rab le  fin d ing  in regard to h is te s tim on ia l tru s t­
w o rth in ess  no tw iths tand ing  the  p roo f o f the  con trad ic tions  in h is 
s ta tem en t to the  A rm y o ffic ia l m ade on 2 .3 .1991 w h ich  were  
m arked as D28 -  ride D30 and the  con trad ic tions  in regard to the  
depos itio ns  wh ich  w e re  m arked D31 to  D36. D33 how eve r has 3do 
no t been p roved . In regard  to  the  con trad ic tions  a ris ing  in re la ­
tion  to  th e  d ispos itions , th e  on ly  m a te ria l con trad ic tions  a re  D32,
D33 and D35. In the  c ircum s tances , w e are unab le  to  say tha t 
the  tr ia l Judge  has e rred  in a rriv ing  a t a  favou rab le  find ing  in 
rega rd  to  the  c red ib ility  o f w itness  C hu las iri and we upho ld  his  
fin d in g s  on the  eva lua tion  o f C hu la s ir i’s ev idence , s in ce  he has  
g iven  ca re fu l cons ide ra tion  to  the  a lleged  con trad ic tions  and d is ­
c repanc ie s  re lied upon by the  de fence . (Vide pages 586  to 592  
and 627  onw ards).
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There has been  ev id ence  led -  e lic ite d  from  w itn e ss  390 

M unas inghe A ra chch ige  M utu M en ika , W .M . S uga thadasa , R .M . 
Jus ie  A ppuham y and A .M . G unadasa  w ho  w e re  re s iden ts  liv ing  
c lose to  the  scene  o f th e  inc iden t, w h ich  had ta ken  p lace  nea r 
K itagam a ju n c tio n . T hese  w itnesses  co lle c tiv e ly  have s ta ted  th a t 
when they  w e re  lis ten ing  to  Bana  p reach ing  o v e r the  rad io  a t 
abou t 8 p.m . on W ednesday, they  had  hea rd  the  no ise  o f a gun  
sho t em ana ting  from  the  d ire c tio n  o f K itagam a  ju n c tio n  and  
sho rtly  p rio r to  tha t th e y  had heard  the  no ise  o f a veh ic le  be ing  
driven in th a t d irec tio n .

W itness Jus ie  A ppuham y s ta te s  p re c ise ly  th a t he w as  lis - 400 

ten ing to  Bana on W ednesday  w hen  he hea rd  th e  no ise  o f the  
m ovem en t o f a  veh ic le  and then  he hea rd  gun  sho ts . La te r w hen  
he cam e ou t and looked  he had seen  lig h t em ana tin g  from  a  fire  
in the d irec tio n  o f Em a ton  E s ta te .O n  the  n ex t d a y  w hen  the  w it­
ness p roceeded  to  th a t po in t a t abou t 10 .a .m . th e y  fo und  a heap  
o f ash and a s trong  sm oke  em ana ting  from  it. T he  25 th  o f 
O ctobe r 1989 w as in fa c t a W ednesday.

W itness  G unadasa  s ta tes  th a t on W ednesday  a t abou t 9 .15  
p.m . he saw  a m ass o f fire  unde rnea th  h is door. T he re a fte r w hen  
abou t ha lf an hou r had lapsed , he had p roceeded  som e d is tance  410  

tow ards the  fire  w ith  R a japakse  and on see ing  w h a t w as appa r­
ent he had be lie ved  th a t it w as a hum an body bu rn ing . A fte r  
som e tim e he s ta tes  tha t the  co rpse  bu rs t and he saw  som e th ing  
like in tes tines  com ing  ou t o f the  co rpse  and on the  nex t day  
when he w en t the re  he found  th a t the  body is bu rn t e xcep t fo r  
abou t one fo o t o f the  co rpse .

Sara th  G am in i D asanayake , In spec to r o f Po lice  a tta ched  to  
the C rim ina l In ves tiga tion  D epa rtm en t w ho  conduc ted  the  in ve s ­
tiga tions  s ta ted  th a t M anana lage  D ing iriya  m ade a com p la in t to  
the Po lice  H eadqua rte rs  in C o lom bo  on the  3 1 s t Janua ry  1991 420 

regard ing the  k illing  o f h is daugh te r M a lin i a lias  N ilan th i by shoo t­
ing her and la te r by bu rn ing  he r body. He has s ta ted  tha t he was  
d ire c ted  to  in v e s tig a te  the  sa id  c om p la in t by th e  D epu ty  
In sp e c to r G ene ra l o f P o lice  a tta c h e d  to  th e  C r im in a l 
Inves tiga tion  D epa rtm en t on 5.2.91 and tha t he unde rto o k  the  
in vestiga tion  on 14.2.91 when the  accused  w as s till func tion ing  
and o ffic ia ting  as the O ffice r- in -C ha rge  o f the  Kobe igane  po lice
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s ta tion . T he  accused  was trans fe rred  from  th is  pos t to  the  
Ba ttica loa  po lice  as O ffice r-in -C ha rge  on ly  in M arch 1991.

In ve s tig a tin g  th e  sa id  c om p la in t o f D in g ir iy a , w itn e ss  430 
Dassanayake  had p roceeded to  the  po in t shown by D ing iriya  to  
him . W itness  D assanayake  s ta te s  tha t he found a t tha t p lace  
s ig ns  and m arks th a t som e th ing  had been bu rn t a t th a t spo t. He  
had d iscove red  and taken  in to  cus tody  a p iece  o f hum an sku ll 
nea r a coconu t tree  a t a po in t 20  fee t aw ay from  the  scene o f the  
inc iden t. He had d iscove red  a p iece  o f bu rn t ty re  nea r a hedge.
O n fu rth e r ca re fu l e xam ina tion  the w itness  had d iscove red  
p ieces  o f bones m ixed w ith  ea rth  and a sm a ll ta lism an m ade out 
o f w h ite  s tee l, (g g  os>a gdoaJ) w h ich  w as  m ing led  w ith  
ea rth .T h is  ta lism an  w as bu rn t and it w as iden tified  by w itness 440 
D ing iriya  as the  ta lism an  pu rchased  by h im  to  be wo rn  by 
N lla n th i as she  had deve loped  a sk in  d isease . W itness  
D asanayake  had handed  o ve r the  p iece  d f the sku ll, a sam ple o f 
ea rth  con ta in ing  hum an bones and ashes and a p iece  o f the  
unde r sk irt recove red  by h im  to  the  M ed ica l O ffice r a t the Medica l 
Faculty.

On the 5 th April 1991 he had taken  in to  h is cus tody  the  
In fo rm a tion  B ook re la ting  to  th is  in ves tiga tion . The a ccused ’s 
s ta tem en t had been reco rded  by A ss is tan t S upe rin te nden t o f 
Po lice , P.A. de S ilva  on 5 .4 .91 . W itness  D assanayake  has filed  450 

a B repo rt in the M ag is tra te 's  C ou rt on the 26 th  o f Ap ril 1991 and  
the  lea rned  M ag is tra te  had v is ite d  the  scene to conduc t an 
in qu iry  on the  26 th  o f Ap ril 1991 itse lf and a pos t m ortem  exam ­
ina tion  on w ha t w as d iscove red  was held on the 29th o f April 
1991. The  accused  w as a rre s ted  by A ss is tan t S upe rin te nden t of 
Po lice , P .A .de S ilva  on the 15th o f M ay 1991, and b rough t 
be fo re  the  M ag is tra te  on 16th o f m ay 1991. The w itness  had 
m oved the lea rned  M ag is tra te  and th ree  le tte rs  m arked as X1,
X2 and X3, the  spec im en  w ritin g  o f the accused  and the  
In fo rm a tion  Book w e re  sen t w ith  the  o rde rs  o f the  M ag is tra te  to 460 
the  E xam ine r o f Q ues tioned  D ocum en ts  fo r exam ina tion  and  
repo rt. W itness  has s ta ted  tha t the p iece  o f the sku ll was d is ­
cove red  app ro x im a te ly  25 fee t aw ay from  the p lace where the  
ta lism an  was d iscove red .
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A t the tria l it was suggested under cross-exam ina tion to the  
w itness tha t the ta lisman, the piece o f the sku ll and the sam ple o f 
earth conta in ing partic les o f bones were fabrica ted to fit the  
deceased. However, th is suggestion particu larly in regard to the  
skull was estab lished to be who lly  unsusta inab le a t the trial. Sen io r  
Lecturer attached to the Jud ic ia l Medica l D iv ision o f the Faculty o f 
Medicine, Dr. H .N . Jean M artia Perera, in her ev idence has c learly  
stated tha t the p iece o f sku ll sen t fo r inspection by her was tha t o f 
a person who had been burn t-whose age was under 30 years and  
as there were insuffic ien t bones it w as not poss ib le to s ta te whe the r  
the skull perta ined to a  male o r fem a le person. Thus if th is  p iece o f 
sku ll was fabrica ted and in troduced by the Inspecto r o f Police as  
irresponsib ly suggested by the de fence the Inspector o f Police  
wou ld have had no means o f perce iv ing the age o f the person  
whose piece o f sku ll was recovered. Th is  medica l ev idence re lating  
to th is d iscovery be lies the de fence suggestion put to  the Inspecto r 
under cross exam ina tion .

The le tters wh ich I have referred to above, had been orig ina lly  
taken charge by the N ikawera tiya  police, w ho in itia lly  investiga ted  
into this matter, from  M anana lage D ing iriya, the fa the r o f the  
deceased . The ev idence  led a t the tria l d is c lo sed  a c le a r  
malpractice on the part o f the o fficers attached to tha t po lice station. 
The orig ina l o f the le tte r a lleged to have been w ritten by the  
accused to Malin i had been transcribed again at the police station  
using the identica l words by ano the r person so as to ass is t the  
accused to impugn the hand w riting . However, w itness Dharmasiri 
before handing ove r the orig ina l copy had been care fu l to obta in a 
photosta t copy o f tha t document.

The Exam iner o f Q uestioned Documents, C .D . Ka lupahana  
having com pared the w riting on the photo copy M D i and (X3) has  
clearly vouched fo r the fact tha t it conta ins the hand writing o f the  
accused. The expert w itness has very correctly p laced before Court 
the media, grounds and reasons fo r his opin ion, p laced before the  
learned Judge the pho tograph ic en largem ents and dem onstra ted  
before Court the process o f com parison, thereby educating the  
Court in regard to the points of s im ila rity between the con ten ts of 
the photo copy M D i and (X3) and the specim en hand w riting o f the  
accused. Though the accused denied that he had w ritten the
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orig ina l o f the photo copy MD, (marked as T4) the learned trial 
Judge having been en ligh tened and educated by the expert 
w itness, has arrived a t a find ing independently of the expert’s 
op in ion , but ass is ted by the expert tha t the photo copy MD, contains  
the  hand w riting o f the accused

N o tw ith s tand ing  the  pe rs is te n t den ia ls  o f the accused- 
appellant, these reve la tions m anifest the m isch ievous, but illegal 
activ ities o f the o ffice rs of the N ikaweratiya police and their 510  
concerted endeavour to un law fu lly and illega lly ass is t the accused  
who was continu ing to hold the post o f O fficer-in-Charge o f the  
Koba igane police sta tion wh ich was a neighbouring police station to 
the N ikawera tiya  police sta tion. Th is d iscovery manifests their 
undue partia lity and propensity to illega lly ass is t the accused by 
ven tu ring  even to fab rica te  docum en ta ry  ev idence . In the 
circum stances, as the tria l Judge has rightly held, no reliance  
whatsoever can be placed on the sta tem ents recorded by the 
N ikaw era tiya  po lice o f the p rosecu tion  w itnesses. Though a 
concerted a ttem pt was m ade by the counse l at the tria l to rely on 520 
the a lleged sta tem ents made by the prosecution w itnesses to the 
N ikaweratiya police fo r purpose o f contrad ic ting the testimony of 
such w itnesses a t the trial, in v iew  of th is revelation and discovery  
we hold tha t the a foresa id con trad ic tions marked by having  
recourse to the s ta tem ents recorded by the N ikaweratiya police, 
have necessarily  to be d isregarded as being of no tangible  
s ign ificance in the d iscovery of the truth and ascerta inment of the 
cred ib ility  of the w itnesses.

The learned tria l Judge has had the benefit of the media, 
ground and reasons fu lly p laced before the Court by the Exam iner 530 

of Q uestioned Docum ents, Mr. Ka lupahana for his considered view  
and find ing tha t the hand w riting on the docum ent MD1, and X3 
(marked a t the tria l as T4 and T5) co incided and was identical to the 
specimen hand w riting taken from  the accused (the learned trial 
Judge has dea lt w ith the evidence of the expert on these aspects at 
pages 505 to 508 o f his judgm ent) and he has arrived at his 
ad jud ica tions independently, but assisted by expert evidence, that 
the accused had w ritten out the contents of the love letters which  
were marked as MD1 and X3 and produced at the trial as T4 and 
T5. X3 and MD1 were read a loud before the Court of Appeal by 540
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both P residen t’s Counsel and by the Add itiona l So lic ito r General.
The Add itiona l So lic ito r G enera l subm itted  tha t the express ions
ez»:x3H)3©H>8 O^sS “S g g zso ee f, ® 3 zrf eeaodo ©ocerf (p q d o  §>8)D
used by  the accused in 3  and MD1 were, a po in ted re fe rence to an  
act o f sexua l in tercourse wh ich he has had w ith N ilanth i. Learned  
Presiden t’s Counse l’s p laced a d iffe ren t in te rp re ta tion on the  words  
used by the accused in X3 and MD1. Th is  Court ho lds tha t the  
in te rpre ta tion pu t upon the  wo rds in T 4  by learned Add itiona l 
So lic ito r G enera l is the co rrec t construc tion o f the con ten ts o f tha t 
letter. - 550

The accused made a dock s ta tem en t in the course o f wh ich  
he den ied the charge and he em pha tica lly  s ta ted tha t he had held  
a high and exa lted position o f O ffice r-in -Charge o f the Kobe igana  
po lice sta tion and there was no necessity w ha tsoever fo r h im  to  
mainta in and have a love a ffa ir w ith a daugh te r o f D ing iriya who as  
a mere coconut p lucke r by pro fession and who resided in the same  
village. He also sta ted that there was no necessity  w hatsoever fo r  
him to obta in G unara tneham y’s van when there were severa l jeeps  
and a requ is itioned van a t the Kobe igana po lice sta tion fo r h is use.
He a lso sta ted in h is dock s ta tem en t -  “ If I v is ited D ing iriya ’s house, 560 
if N ilanth i cam e to the po lice sta tion o r in search o f me, there was  
no necessity fo r me to w rite  le tte rs to he r as I regu larly v is ited tha t 
house” . He has fu rthe r sta ted tha t “he had no idea w ha tsoeve r to kill 
Nilanth i Malin i o r to have a love a ffa ir w ith  her” . Th is is the firm  and  
defin ite  position asserted by the accused in his dock s ta tem ent. 
However, a t the a rgum en t o f th is appea l, learned P res iden t’s 
Counse l w ise ly  adm itted and conceded on beha lf o f the accused  
tha t the accused did have and m ainta in a love a ffa ir w ith N ilanth i, in 
view  o f the overwhe lm ing ev idence e lic ited in support o f th is fact at 
th is trial. 570

The prosecution w itnesses, M .M .Gunawath ie  and Sunethra  
Dilhani have also g iven ev idence at the tria l in regard to the love  
affa ir tha t ex is ted between the accused -appe llan tand  N ilanth i. Both  
w itnesses under a ffirm ation have sta ted tha t they had w ritten on  
N ilan th i’s instructions love le tte rs on he r beha lf to the accused, even  
as late as two months prior to her death. Thus it is patently and 
manifestly clear that the accused has in his dock statement uttered 
an international and deliberate falsehood.
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The question arises w he the r th is fa lsehood was uttered on a 
materia l and re levant po in t upon th is prosecution. There is no doubt 580 
tha t th is lie was de libera te ly  uttered on a h igh ly materia l issue in this 
case. The next question is the considera tion whether the motivating  
fac to r fo r the lie was a rea liza tion o f gu ilt and the fear fo r the truth; 
if so, the u tte rances o f the lie weakens the defence case and  
substan tia tes and advances the prosecution vers ion narrated  
aga ins t him . W e hold tha t the accused uttered th is de liberate lie on 
th is materia l issue because he knew  that if he told the truth he 
would be sealing h is fa te as regards th is legal proceedings. If such  
was the motive, the u tte rance o f such a lie would corroborate the  
prosecution case. In the decis ion in Haramanis v  Somalatha <6) a t 590 
371 I stated the rationale in regard to the motive fo r the utterances  
o f a de libera te lie on som e materia l issue by a party as follows:

‘T h e  princip le is tha t a lie on som e materia l issue by a party 
m ay ind ica te a consc iousness tha t if he te lls the truth he will 
lose.”
Justice Hall in Popovic v Derks P) a t 433 and at 429-430 (per 

Justice Sholi) remarked -
"M atters wh ich o therw ise m ight be am biguous are rendered  
corrobora tive  by reason o f the fa lse denia l.”
I have referred in tha t decision to Ch ief Justice Lane’s 6oo 

judgm en t in Rex v Lucas (8> and the judgm ent o f Justice A thukorale  
in Karunanayake v Karunasiri Perera a t 33. Justice A thukorale  
remarked -

"It seem s to me tha t the tests wh ich should be applied in 
determ in ing w he the r a lie to ld by an accused o r a defendant, 
w he the r in o r ou ts ide  Court, is capab le  o f constitu ting  
corrobora tion o r not, have been correctly set out by Lord Lane,
CJ. in Rexv Lucas (supra). Under the c ircum stances I should  
adopt and app ly the crite ria  form ula ted by him to local cases  
both crim ina l and c iv il in wh ich the question arises for 610  
considera tion .
V ide also the dec is ions in Credland v  Know /eri10> a t 55; R v 

J.H. Knight™) a t 126; Jones v  Thomas^2) a t 327; R v Chapman^3) 
Dawson v Mackenzie<14); R v  Baldwin^5)] Navaz Khawn v 
Reginaf16) a t 82 .
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In regard to the tests laid down by Lord Lane, learned  
President’s Counsel appearing fo r the accused-appe llan t conceded  
tha t the accused had in tentiona lly and de libera te ly lied in his dock  
sta tem en t on a materia l issue, but he contended tha t the m otive for 
the lie was no t a consciousness on his part tha t if he speaks the  
tru th in Court he w ill lose. Learned P res iden t’s Counse l s trenuous ly  
argued tha t the accused d id not ac t w ith the consc iousness tha t if 
he to ld the tru th he wou ld  be sea ling h is fa te as regards th is  crim ina l 
prosecution. He argued tha t because the accused held a high post 
in governm ent serv ice as O fficer-in -Charge o f ■ the police station  
and because he held a high position in the soc ia l ladder, he spoke  
the untruth and denied his love a ffa ir w ith N ilanth i as she was the  
daugh te r o f  a mere coconut p lucke r who stood in a low socia l 
position . In ana lyz ing and eva lua ting th is subm iss ion o f learned  
Presiden t’s Counse l, one m ust necessarily  take account o f the  
lapse o f tim e wh ich had ensued p rio r to  the da te  on wh ich he  
u tte red  th is  lie . T he re  w as a non -sum m a ry  p ro ceed ings  
in the M agistra te Court o f Ku liyap itiya  whe re  ev idence in regard to 
th is love a ffa ir w as led a t an an te rio r po in t o f time. The investiga tion  
conduc ted  by the C rim ina l In ve s tig a tio n  D epa rtm en t and, 
proceed ings a t the inquest and in the M agistra te Court wh ich took  
place a t an an te rio r po in t o f tim e would have necessarily  a ttracted  
the a tten tion o f the pub lic as well as the recitors o f verses (kavi kola  
karayas) a t bus stands in the d istric t. Thus th is love a ffa ir would  
necessarily  have been a w ide ly pub lic ized m atte r in the entire  
district.

Besides, w itness Som awath ie  has given pertinen t ev idence in 
regard to th is aspect o f the matter. In her ev idence wh ich appears  
in the record, she has conv inc ing ly and a ffirm ative ly  stated tha t on 
a day rough ly about one month before N ilan th i’s death, the accused  
who was the O ffice r-in -Charge o f the Kobe igana police sta tion had  
sen t a m essage to her th rough a person ca lled Martin, to call over  
persona lly a t the police station. She has sta ted that when she went 
there the accused had sta ted thus to her:

“W hen I was tak ing N ilanth i in my offic ia l jeep  your daughte r 
Sune th ra D ilhani has m ocked and laughed and stated certa in  
th ings. W arn you r daugh te r to be very care fu l and absta in from  
such conduct in the fu tu re .”
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640

650
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A fte r Som awath ie had proceeded near the gate o f the police  
sta tion the accused aga in  sum m oned her and had reiterated in 
S inhala. The  ev idence g iven by Som awath ie on th is po in t has not 
been cha llenged o r im pugned in cross exam ination. Th is evidence  
o f Som awath ie conta ins an adm iss ion tha t the accused had taken  
Nilanth i in h is open jeep a long the town o f Kobeigana. Had the  
accused enterta ined fears and apprehensions about the social 660 
stand ing o f N ilanth i when he had taken he r in his offic ia l jeep along  
Kobe igane town? Th is  adm iss ion wh ich was elicited is provable  
aga ins t the accused quo adm iss ion and th is  evidence m ilitates  
aga ins t the accep tance o f the exp lanation and the aforesaid  
subm iss ion pre ferred by learned P resident's Counsel at the hearing  
o f argum ent on th is  appea l. Thus it is c lea r tha t the accused has 
uttered these de libera te lies due to his consciousness that if he 
sta ted the tru th , his fa te wou ld  have been sealed as fa r as this 
prosecution was concerned. Thus th is lie weakens the defence  
case, advances in s trength, corrobora tes and substantia tes the 670 
prosecu tion case presented aga ins t the accused.

Equally, the accused fa lse ly  asserted in his dock statement 
tha t he did not obta in a Toyota H iace van wh ich was driven by 
G unara tneham y and that there was never a need for him  to obtain  
tha t vehicle, as there were two jeeps and a requisitioned van 
ava ilab le fo r his use at the police station. But the unimpugned  
evidence d isc losed that the police vehicles were under repair and 
the police o fficers to perform  security duties at the Provincial 
Council M in is te r's  house were picked up into Gunaratnehamy's van  
at the police sta tion on th is day to be transported by the accused. 680 

The ev idence o f G une ra tneham y on th is aspect was never ; 
cha llenged, im pugned or assa iled by counse l who appeared for the 
accused a t the tria l in cross exam ina tion . This manifest lie uttered  
by the accused in his dock s ta tem ent too satisfies the three tests  
fo rm u la ted by Lord Lane in Rex v Lucas (Supra). The borrow ing of 
the sa id van was a materia l fact in this prosecution and the 
prosecution vers ion is tha t N ilanth i was taken in this particu lar van 
on the 25th o f O ctobe r 1989 to be killed near K itagama junction.
The accused has uttered th is fa lsehood deliberate ly w ith the 
consciousness tha t it he adm itted the truth and the borrow ing of this 690 

van, his fa te wou ld  be sea led as fa r as th is prosecution was 
concerned.
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Mananalage Emalin testified before the H igh C ou rt tha t on the  
24th o f O ctober 1989 he r daugh te r N ilanth i le ft home in the morn ing  
a t abou t 7.30 a.m . o r 8 a.m . s ta ting to the w itness tha t the Loku  
Mahataya o f Kobe igane had requested her to com e ove r to marry  
her and on tha t occasion N ilan th i had s ta ted to  the w itness tha t she  
was expecting a ch ild in her w om b due to the  ac tions o f the said  
Loku Mahataya and tha t he wanted to ge t m arried to he r on accoun t 
o f tha t fact. She a lso s ta ted tha t he r daugh te r to ld  her not to  look fo r 700 

he r and it it is poss ib le  tha t she shou ld com e round about 4  o ’c lock  
o r not com e at all. The a fo resa id  ev idence g iven by Emalin was  
sough t to be adm itted in te rm s o f the p rov is ions o f section 32(1) of 
the Evidence O rd inance as a dy ing declara tion .

Learned P res iden t's  Counse l con tended tha t the en tire ty  o f the  
said dy ing decla ra tion a lleged to have been m ade by N ilan th i to  her 
m other (the w itness) d id not com e w ith in the am b it o f section 32(1) 
and was there fore inadm iss ib le . He con tended the  phrase “the  
c ircum stances o f the transaction wh ich resu lted in her dea th ” wou ld  
re late on ly to tha t part o f N ilan th i’s s ta tem en t where in  she s ta ted  in 710  

the morning tha t she was proceed ing to m eet the  Loku Mahataya, 
but tha t the ob jec t o r purpose fo r so proceed ing was inadm iss ib le .

The learned P resident's Counse l sought to rely on certa in  
words use by Lord A tk in in Pakala Narayanaswamy v Kincp1). 
However in the course o f the a rgum en t th is Court was constra ined  
to d raw  the a tten tion o f learned P res iden t’s Counse l to the e ffect of 
the judgm ent o f the Privy Council in adm itting as adm iss ib le  the  
whole o f the s ta tem ent sought to be adm itted by the prosecution  
aga inst the accused-appe llan t and to the judgm en t o f Justice  Dias  
in King v  Mudalihamy <18) where the learned Judge purporting to 720 

app ly the princ ip les laid down by the P rivy Council in Pakala 
Narayanaswamy’s case held tha t the s ta tem en t made by the  
deceased to w itness Mary Nona tha t he was proceed ing to the  
jung le  a t the invita tion o f the accused to co llect bee ’s honey in the  
jung le  was adm iss ib le in te rm s o f section 32(1) o f the Evidence  
Ord inance. Thus both in Pakala Narayanaswamy’s case and in 
Mudalihamy’s case no t on ly  th e  fa c t o f th e  in v ita tio n  bu t the  
pu rpose  o f o b je c t o f th e  in v ita tio n  w e re  d e te rm in ed  to  be  a 
c ircum s ta n ce  o f th e  tra n sa c tio n  w h ich  resu lted  in dea th .
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A t a la te r s ta ge  o f h is  a rg um en t lea rned  P re s iden t’s 730 
C ounse l w a s  cons tra in ed  to  a ccep t th e  te nab ility  o f the  sa id  
p ropos itio n  o f law  enunc ia ted  b y  th is  C ou rt in the  hea lthy  
d ia lo gue  th a t to o k  p la ce  so  o ften  be tw een  Judge  and  C ounse l.
A t th is  s ta ge  he  a rgued  th a t pa rt o f th e  e v idence  o f Em alin  tha t 
N ilan th i w a s  e xpec tin g  a  ch ild  on  a ccoun t o f th e  ac tiv itie s  o f the  
Loku  M aha taya  a nd  b e cau se  o f th a t fa c t th e  Loku M aha taya  
w an te d  to  g e t m a rried  to  he r w a s  c le a rly  inadm iss ib le  as it 
m e re ly  c o n s titu te d  th e  a lle g ed  reason  fo r the  pu rpose  o f 
p ro ceed ing  to  m ee t Loku  M aha taya  w h ich  he  cha rac te rized  as  
be ing  th e  R E A S O N  fo r th e  reason . 740

A lte rna tive ly , le a rned  P re s id en t’s C ounse l a rgued  th a t the  
e v id en ce  g iven  by  Em a lin , on  th is  po in t w a s  fa lse  and inc red ib le  
as be ing  in he ren tly  im p robab le . D ea ling  w ith  the  la tte r issue  o f 
im p robab ility , th is  co u rt o b se rve s  th a t a lthough  w itness  Em alin  
as  a m o th e r w a s  aw a re  a b o u t he r d a u gh te r ’s p regnancy  abou t 
th re e  m on th s  p r io r to  th e  da te , w hen  she  se t ou t from  her 
pa ren ta l hom e on  th a t m o rn ing , th e  s ig n ifican t fa c t is th a t a 
young  g irl aged  18 w a s  leav ing  th e  pa ren ta l hom e in the  m orn ing  
to  ge t m a rried  a lone , u n ce rem on ious ly  and  unaccom pan ied  by 
any  o th e r pe rson  and  w ith ou t th e  p re sence  and the  b less ings o f 750 

he r pa ren ts . E spec ia lly , am ong  the  conse rva tive  v illa ge  fo lk, 
daugh te rs  o f young  age  do  no t go ou t o f th e ir hom es to  get 
m arried  w ith ou t th e  p re sence  o f th e ir pa ren ts  hav ing  regard to  
th e  p ra c tice s , u sages  and  th e  cu ltu re  th a t p reva ils  in the  rural 
v illa ges

In th is  con te x t w hen  N ilan th i re ite ra ted  tha t she  was  
expec ting  a ch ild  by  Loku M aha taya  and tha t she w as se tting  out 
a lone  to  ge t m a rried  to  h im  in te rm s  o f h is d irec tio ns , th is  Court 
d isco ve rs  no  in tr in s ic  o r in he ren t im p robab ility  as con tended  fo r 
by lea rned  P re s id en t’s C ounse l, w hen  one  re la tes th is  s ta tem en t 760 

and  th e  e v id ence  to  th e  a tte ndan t c ircum s tances  e lic ited  upon  
th is  p ro s e c u tio n . T h o u g h  h e r m o th e r w a s  aw a re  o f he r  
p re gnan cy  a b o u t th re e  m on th s  p rio r to  th e  da te  o f he r se tting  
ou t, it is q u ite  p ro bab le  th a t N ilan th i w as  apo loge tic  abou t the  
fa c t th a t she  w as  se ttin g  o u t a lo ne  on  th is  m iss ion .

N ow  re ve rtin g  to  th e  issue  o f lega l a dm iss ib ility  o f tha t part 
o f h e r s ta tem en t th a t she  w as  e xpec ting  a ch ild  on a ccoun t of
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th e  a c tiv it ie s  o f the  Loku M aha ta ya  and  th a t he w is h e d  to  ge t 
m arried  to  he r on a ccoun t o f th is  fac t, th is  C ou rt, p ro ceeds  to  
co n s id e r w h e th e r th is  p a rt o f th e  s ta tem en t is su ffic ie n tly  
p ro x im a te  to  rende r it a  pa rt o f th e  c ircum s ta n ce s  o f th e  
tra n sac tio n  w h ich  re su lted  in he r dea th .

T h is  e xp re ss io n  “c ircum s ta n ce s  o f th e  tra n sa c tio n ” is  no t so  
w ide  as  c ircum s tances  w h ich  w o u ld  co n s titu te  c ircum s tan tia l 
ev idence  to  th e  fa c t in issue  in a case . T he  se ttin g  o u t from  
hom e fo r th e  pu rpose  o f ge ttin g  m a rrie d  to  th e  Loku M aha taya  
has been  s u b s e q u e n tly  c o n c e d e d  b y  le a rn e d  P re s id e n t’s 
C ounse l to  be  pa rt o f th e  c ircum s ta n ce s  o f th e  tra n sa c tio n  w h ich  
re su lted  in d ea th .T he  fa c t th a t she  ca rrie d  th e  a c cu se d ’s ch ild  in 
he r w om b  is  ce rta in ly  a  reason  fo r th e  m a rr ia g e  co n tem p la te d  by  
th e  pa rtie s . Is no t th a t reason  su ffic ie n tly  co nne c te d  and  
p ro x im a te  to  th e  in v ita tio n  to  g e t m a rrie d?  T he  a n sw e r to  th a t  
ques tio n  has  d e fin ite ly  to  be  in th e  a ffirm a tive . H en ce  th e  
p re gnan cy  is  h igh ly  co nnec ted  to  th e  in v ita tio n  to  g e t m a rried  
and  is  a lso  c lo se ly  co nnec ted  to  th e  a lle g ed  a c ts  o f sh oo tin g  and  
th e  bu rn ing  o f N ila n th i.V iew ed  in th is  lig h t th is  s ta tem en t o f 
N ilan th i to  h e r m o th e r s h o rtly  be fo re  she  le ft th e  h ouse  th a t  
m orn ing  is a fa c t in e x tr icab ly  in te rw oven  and  connec ted  to  the  
c ircum s ta n ce s  o f th e  shoo tin g  and  th e  se ttin g  on fire  w h ich  
re su lted  in he r dea th . In th e  c ircum s ta n ce s  th is  C ou rt upho lds  
th e  cogen t c on ten tio n s  a d vanced  by  le a rned  A dd itio na l S o lic ito r  
G ene ra l and  re jec ts  th e  subm iss io n s  p re fe rred  by  lea rned  
P re s id en t’s C ounse l and  ho lds th a t th e  e v id ence  vo lun te e re d  by  
w itne ss  Em a lin  in rega rd  to  th e  en tire ty  o f w ha t he r daugh te r  
N ilan th i na rra ted  to  he r be fo re  she  le ft th e  pa ren ta l hom e  on the  
24 th  o f O c to b e r 1989 is a dm iss ib le  in e v id ence  in te rm s  o f the  
p ro v is io n s  o f sec tion  32 (1 ) o f th e  E v idence  O rd inance , adop ting  
th e  w ide  and  e x ten s ive  cons tru c tio n  p la ced  upon  th is  p rov is ion  
by Lo rd  A tk in  in Pakala Narayanaswamy’s case , as opposed  to  
th e  re s tr ic te d  and  lim ited  cons tru c tio n  pu t upon  it b y  Ju s tice  
G arv in  in King v Arnolis PereraJ 19)

The re ference in the dying decla ra tion to the fact o f p regnancy  
is causa lly  and c lose ly related to the actua l occurrence and there  
is a p rox im a te re la tionsh ip  between the p regnancy and the actua l 
occurrence. It is d irec tly  re lated to the occasion o f the death. It is
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possib le tha t evidence wh ich mere ly constitu tes the motive for the 
com m iss ion o f the crime and such incidents which have taken  
place during a period o f time long prio r to the comm ission of the 
crim ina l act, wou ld not constitu te a c ircumstance o f the transaction.
V ide Dharmawansa de Silva v  Attorney GeneralS2°) Particularly sio 
where the evidence is re levant o therw ise than as motive alone and 
where there is a c lose proximate re lationship between the 
happening o f tha t event and the murderous assault, such  
c ircum stances wou ld  constitu te a c ircumstance of the transaction -  
See Somasiri v  Republic of Sri Lanka <21); King v Marshall 
AppuhamyP2> at 275; Somasiri v The Queen (23) per Justice  
H .N .G .Fernando and Regina v H.S.PereraS2V> (where there was an 
in terval o f ove r two weeks between the fact relied upon as 
reason fo r the attack on the deceased and the causing o f the death  
of the deceased). 820

W itness M ananalage Emalin has stated in her evidence that 
when her husband D ing iriya arrived at the ir home afte r work that 
she had related that N ilanth i left home in the morning and had not 
returned as yet. Th is w itness a lso sta ted that she met the accused  
at the police sta tion and requested the accused to take down her 
sta tem ent and had requested the assistance o f the accused to find  
her daughte r but the accused had fa iled to record her statement 
and had instead observed tha t her daughte r may have got friendly  
w ith  a boy and run away and there fore to investigate fu rther before  
m aking a compla in t. 830

Long prio r to the 24th o f O ctober 1989 w itness Emalin has 
stated that the accused had com e to her compound to meet her 
daugh te r on two o r th ree occasions and she had seen her daughter 
ta lk ing to the accused in the ir garden. She has also testified to the  
effect tha t a person nam ed Dharmasiri had proposed to her 
daugh te r and tha t when Dharmasiri d iscovered that N ilanthi was  
having an a ffa ir w ith  the accused on d iscovery o f a love letter 
w ritte n  by the  accused  to N ilan th i, he had te rm ina ted  the  
re la tionsh ip  w ith  N ilan th i. U nde r c ross-exam ina tion  she was  
confronted w ith the ev idence that she gave a t the non summary 840 
proceed ings in the M agistra te Court. In parts of her s ta tement made  
to  the C rim ina l Investiga tion Departm ent marked, D20 and D21, 
she has sta ted tha t he r daugh te r N ilanth i when leaving the house  
on the 24th o f O ctobe r 1989 a t about 7.30 a.m . had told her thus:
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“M other Kobe igane Loku M ahataya had wanted me to come. Do not 
look fo r me. If possib le I w ill com e around 4 o ’c lock o r I w ill not 
com e’’. T he purpose in marking these s ta tem ents as D20 and D21 
was to pin po in t tha t in these s ta tem ents there is no re ference to the  
purpose o f the m ission wh ich was to get married o r a re ference to  
the p regnancy a t the hands o f the accused. D24 had re lated to what 
the w itness informed the N ikawera tiya  po lice . W e have a lready se t 
our v iews in regard to tha t investiga tion and the record ing o f 
sta tem ents by the N ikawera tiya  Police.

Another w itness who testified a t the tria l w as M anana lage  
D ingiriya the fa the r o f the deceased, in the  course o f h is ev idence  
he has sta ted tha t Dharm asiri ceased to com e to the ir home to see  
Nilanth i abou t s ix  m onths be fo re  he r death. He has re ferred to the  
fac t tha t he purchased a wh ite  s tee l ta lism an on the advice o f the  
Veda M ahathaya as N ilan th i had deve loped a skin d isease. 
Accord ing to h is tes tim ony on the 24th o f O ctober 1989 when he  
came back from  work to h is home, he had d iscovered from  his w ife  
Emalin tha t Loku Mahataya had wanted N ilan th i to com e over to get 
m arried to he r and his w ife had sta ted tha t she had left the hom e in 
the morn ing a t abou t 7 .30 a.m . On the 25th o f O ctobe r 1989, the  
w itness had proceeded to Kobe igane po lice sta tion and had  
expressed a desire to make a w ritten com p la in t to the accused that 
his daugh te r was m issing. W hereupon the accused had d issuaded  
him from  making a com pla in t in w riting by observ ing tha t she may  
have run away w ith a boy and there fore to make fu rthe r inqu iries  
and a fte r the lapse o f two o r th ree days to make the desired  
compla in t. On the 26th o f O ctober 1989 when he p roceeded to  
K itagam a junction he had d iscovered the  corpse o f a young girl 
burn t to death and when he looked c lose r he had seen a burn t 
ta lism an and be lieved the body to be tha t o f his daughter. On his 
arriva l a t home he had narra ted th is d iscovery to his w ife and  
the rea fte r p roceeded to the po lice sta tion to m eet the accused and  
had again expressed a desire to lodge a com pla in t. On th is  
occasion too the accused had d issuaded him  from  m aking a 
com p la in t sta ting tha t h is daugh te r w ill com e back home and to  
m ake the s ta tem en t if necessary a fte r the lapse o f a few  days. 
The rea fte r when the w itness ins is ted on m aking the com p la in t the  
accused had instructed the Reserve O fficer, a fte r com ing ou t w ith a 
joke , to  record his s ta tem ent.
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The Reserve O ffice r subsequently advised him to inquire from  
his daugh te r’s friends and com e back la ter to the police station and  
as a result the w itness was unab le to have his com pla in t recorded  
even on tha t day. On the next day when he was proceeding to work  
he had seen the burn t body again and he had observed the burnt 
part o f a under sk irt h idden under a bush. Subsequently he had 
proceeded to th is spo t and taken charge o f th is burnt under skirt 890 
and la te r handed it o ve r to the o fficers o f the C rim inal Investigation  
Departm ent. He had s ta ted tha t he found letters w ritten by the  
accused to h is daugh te r and abou t three le tters w ritten by Nilanthi 
to  the accused wh ich were deposited in her suitcase.

On the 31st o f January 1991 the w itness had made a 
com p la in t to  the Police Headquarters in Co lombo and a fte r the  
lapse o f s ix days o f m aking the sa id com pla in t his who le house had  
been burnt. The w itness has not been contrad icted a t the trial in 
regard to the con ten ts o f th is  compla in t. Later an o fficer o f the 
C rim ina l Investiga tion D epartm ent a rrived a t h is home and 900 

recorded his s ta tem ent. The w itness had taken the o fficer o f the  
Crim inal Investiga tion Departm ent to the spo t where he found the  
burn t body and the burnt ta lisman. Long before the CID officers 
cam e to meet him  in his s ta tem ent to the Police Headquarters, he 
has specifica lly referred to the burn t body and talisman.

In th is factua l background, learned Additional Solic itor General 
contended cogently tha t a lthough the m other and fa ther of his loved  
girl friend ora lly com pla ined to the accused that the ir daughter 
Nilanth i was m issing on the 24th o f O ctober and 25th of October 
1989 and requested the accused to record the ir compla ints, the 910  

accused had made every endeavour to d issuade them  from  making ’ 
a w ritten com pla in t observ ing tha t his girl friend N ilanthi may have 
eloped w ith a boy and had suggested to them  to make further 
inqu iries and in his capacity as O fficer-in-Charge o f the police  
station the accused took no steps whatsoever to investigate into  
these com pla in ts, no tw ithstand ing the fact tha t the person m issing  
was an ind ividual to whom  he had w ritten love letters. He urged this 
Court on p roo f o f these incrim inating facts to raise an adverse  
in ference in regard to the ca llous conduct and fa ilure of the accused  
to  com m ence  an in ve s tig a tio n  in to  these  com p la in ts .These  920 

com pla in ts were made on the evening of the 24th of October 1989
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(by the mother) and on the 25th o f O ctober 1989 (by the fa the r o f 
the deceased) and the very s ign ifican t fact is tha t accord ing to the  
tes tim ony o f Chulasiri, N ilanth i cam e ou t o f the residentia l house of 
the accused toge the r w ith the  accused and go t in to the van, wh ich  
was la te r driven by the accused, on the 25th o f O ctobe r 1989 at 
abou t 7 .30  o r 7 .45 p.m .

The fa ilu re to record the com p la in ts  o f the paren ts and the  
fa ilu re to com m ence an investiga tion into the sa id com pla in ts  
coup led w ith the ev idence o f Chu las iri tha t he saw  N ilanth i com ing 930 
ou t o f the accused ’s res idence toge the r w ith the accused to board  
the van, ra ises h igh ly incrim ina ting c ircum stances aga ins t the  
accused wh ich the accused has fa iled to exp la in  away, though it 
was in the power and dom in ium  o f the accused to do so when he  
had tha t unfe tte red and unrestric ted opportun ity  to do so in his dock  
sta tem ent. H is dock s ta tem en t to  th is  ex ten t is h igh ly defic ien t. The  
dock s ta tem en t conta ins no den ia l o f D ing iriya ’s v is its  to  the police  
station and requests held ou t to  the accused to have his com p la in t 
recorded. These incrim ina ting c ircum stances estab lished aga inst 
him  gave rise to p resum ptions and in fe rences wh ich sh ifted the 940 

evidential burden, as opposed to the legal burden, to  exp la in  away  
these h ighly incrim inating c ircum stances in te rm s o f the speeches  
of Lord E llenborough in Rex v Cochrana (25> and tha t o f Justice  
Abbo tt in Rexv Burdett@6) a t 120, The princ ip les laid down in these  
two cases do not place a legal o r a persuas ive burden on the  
accused to prove his innocence or to prove tha t he com m itted no  
offence but these two dec is ions on proo f o f a  prim a fac ie case and  
on proof o f h ighly incrim inating c ircum stances sh ift the ev identia l 
burden to the accused to exp la in  away these h igh ly incrim inating  
c ircum stances when he had both the pow er and opportun ity  to do 950 
so. Vide the judgm en t in Misnagollage Siriyawathie v  The Republic 
<27> and Kankanam Aratchilage Gunadasa v The Republic (28).

W e have held tha t the to ta lity  o f the con ten ts o f the dying  
decla ra tion made by N ilanth i, shortly be fo re  she le ft the parenta l 
home on the 24th o f O c tobe r 1989, to her m o the r is adm iss ib le  and  
re levan t in te rm s o f sec 32(1) o f the Evidence O rd inance.

Learned Add itiona l So lic ito r Genera l a lte rna tive ly  argued that 
the sta tem en t re lating to he r go ing ou t to ge t m arried and the  
sta tem en t re lating to her p regnancy a t the hands o f the accused
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was a lso a lte rna tive ly  adm iss ib le under sec. 8(2) o f the Evidence 960 
Ord inance as conduc t o f any party to any su it o r proceeding and  
tha t when such conduc t is re levant a s ta tem ent made which  
accom panies and affects such conduct is a lso relevant. Th is same  
legal contention was advanced by learned Additional Solic itor 
Genera l in regard to two o the r item s o f evidence led upon this 
prosecution . In the c ircum stances I w ill d iscuss the tenability of this 
contention in law a fte r referring specifica lly to o ther items of 
ev idence wh ich were referred to by him  in the course of the 
argument.

W itness G unawath ie  g iv ing ev idence (recorded a t page 160) 970 
sta ted tha t fourteen days p rio r to  N ilan th i’s death she w rote the  
le tte r dated 11th O ctober 1989 a t the d icta tion and a t the instance  
o f N ilan th i addressed to A jith  Sam arakoon who functioned as the  
Loku M ahataya a t the Kobe igane police station. The contents o f this 
letter, inter alia, reads as fo llows:

“You have not sen t me a le tte r presum ably for the reason that 
you do not w ish to m eet me. B ro ther A jit is you r heart a gal 
ka tayak?” (cad s^ ?)  Do you th ink and recollect about innocent 
N ilan th i? ’ The actua l au tho r o f this le tte r is deceased N ilanthi and  
w itness Gunawath ie  has mere ly transcribed the letter at the 980 
d icta tion and instance o f N ilanthi. Thus if the author of the letter is 
not ca lled as a w itness, the contents o f the le tter dated 11.10.89 are 
hearsay. A lthough the contents of this le tter are logically relevant to 
the facts in issue upon th is prosecution, th is hearsay documentary  
ev idence could on ly be adm itted if it could be brought w ith in any 
one o f the sections provid ing fo r the exceptions to the hearsay rule 
as spe lt ou t in the Evidence O rd inance. Those exceptions are 1 
conta ined in ou r Evidence O rd inance in sec. 17-38 and the contents  
of th is le tter do not fa ll w ith in the am bit of any of these sections. 
Thus G unawa th ie ’s ev idence on th is m atter has necessarily to be 990 

lim ited to the fact tha t N ilanth i d icta ted a le tter to tha t effect. To that 
extent G unawath ie ’s ev idence when so lim ited is d irect evidence in 
te rm s o f sec tion  60 o f the E v idence  O rd inance . In the  
c ircum stances though the con ten ts o f th is le tter was marked in 
evidence , th is le tte r is not adm issib le to estab lish the truth of the  
m atters con ta ined in the assertions o f N ilanthi as embodied in that 
letter. In fact even to the th ird aspect of evidence relied on by the
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learned Add itiona l So lic ito r G enera l the  p rinc ip le o f law  enuncia ted  
by me wou ld  be equa lly  app licab le .

W itness Som awath ie  g iv ing ev idence (recorded a t page 317) 1000 

stated tha t when she was pee ling eke ls w h ils t sea ted on a bench  
positioned under a tree in he r com pound. N ilanth i, w ho  often  
stepped in a t her house on the w ay to sew ing c lasses, requested  
fo r som e w a te r to d rink and sta ted thus:

“Aunt, the Loku M ahataya requested me eve ry day to com e  
over to K itagam a junction . I acco rd ing ly  proceed to tha t spot, bu t he  
da ily d isappo in ts me and is in the hab it o f ge tting me to waste  my  
time a t th is p lace.”

Som awath ie a lleged tha t th is  s ta tem en t w as m ade by N ilanth i 
to her one month before her death. In fa c t in re lation to these th ree 10 10  

aspec ts  o f ev idence , lea rned  A dd itio n a l S o lic ito r G ene ra l 
strenuously argued tha t they are adm iss ib le  as conduc t and the  
accom panying s ta tem ents wh ich expla in such conduct are a lso  
adm iss ib le under the prov is ions o f section 8(2) o f the Evidence  
Ordinance. W e hold tha t in law  these s ta tem en ts  a re  m ade on ly  
log ica lly re levant in as much as they stand in the re la tionsh ip of 
"CAUSE AND EFFECT” to the fact in issue by the opera tion o f 
section 8(2) and a ll th ree aspects o f ev idence wh ich were re ferred  
to by the Add itiona l So lic ito r Genera l are spec ies o r hearsay  
evidence , and are exc luded by the genera l rule exc lud ing hearsay 1020  

ev idence . To rende r these  s ta tem en ts  le ga lly  adm iss ib le  in 
evidence, it has to be estab lished tha t they fa ll w ith in  the am b it o f 
sections 17-38 o f the Evidence O rd inance wh ich prov ide fo r the  
adoption o f hearsay under we ll de fined excep tions to the hearsay  
ru le in Sri Lanka. These s ta tem ents do not com e w ith in any o f the  
recogn ized excep tions to the hearsay ru le as se t fo rth in the  
Evidence O rd inance . In the c ircum stances these s ta tem en ts are  
inadm iss ib le  in law  to estab lish  the tru th  o f the asse rtions con ta ined  
in those th ree s ta tem ents. However, the persons to whom  these  
s ta tem en ts  w e re  m ade nam e ly  w itn e ss  Em a lin , w itn e ss  1030  

G unawath ie  and w itness Som awath ie  cou ld  g ive d irec t ev idence to  
estab lish  m ere ly tha t such s ta tem ents were made. (V ide Section  
60(1) and 60(2) o f the Evidence O rd inance), bu t they canno t g ive  
ev idence o f the s ta tem ents w ith  the ob jec t o f p rov ing the tru th o f the  
assertions con ta ined in those s ta tem ents. Thus Som aw ath ie ’s
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ev idence tha t N ilanth i made such a sta tement and that she heard  
such a lam ent from  N ilanth i is adm issib le only to prove that such a 
sta tem ent was made. Vide section 60 o f the Evidence Ordinance.

However, it has to  be em phasized tha t the learned trial Judge  
has nowhere in his judgm ent re lied on these three statements 1040 
(which were hearsay) fo r his ad jud ica tions and has not relied on the  
tru th  o f the fac ts conta ined in those assertions to arrive a t find ings  
aga ins t the accused appellant. However, the whole o f the statement 
made by N ilanth i to  her m other shortly before she left her home is 
adm iss ib le  in ev idence in te rm s o f section 32(1) o f the Evidence  
O rd inance.

I w ish to am phas ize tha t the w itnesses fo r the prosecution A.M. 
Gunadasa, R. M. Jus ie  Appuhamy, W. M. Sugathadasa and  
M unas inghe A ra tch ilage  Mutu M en ika have sta ted tha t they  
w itnessed on ly one con flagra tion o f the nature wh ich they 1050 

w itnessed  on the  25th o f O c tobe r 1989 night, in the area  
surround ing K itagam a junction and specifica lly that there were no 
o the r such con flagra tions in the area. In regard to the evaluation of 
the ev idence o f w itness Chulasiri, w itness Emalin and w itness  
Dingiriya, it is very pertinen t to ana lyze the ir evidence in the light of 
the princ ip les laid down by Justice  Thackke r in the celebrated  
decision in Barwada Boghin Bhai Hirji Bhai v The State of Gujerat 
<29) at 755, in regard to the sequence in wh ich evidence is narrated  
by w itnesses and the tendency on the part of the w itness to m ix up 
the sequence o f events in narrating his evidence in Court. 1060

I have pa tien tly  and fu lly  cons ide red  the subm iss ions  
advanced on beha lf o f the accused appe llan t and the Republic. We  
w ish to express ou r apprec ia tion of the devotion and dedication  
d isclosed by learned P res iden t’s Counsel on both s ides in the  
argum ent o f th is appea l before th is Court on several dates and we  
w ish to record ou r gra titude to jun io r counsel appearing on both  
s ides fo r the ir research and the care fu lly compiled w ritten summary  
o f ev idence and w ritten subm iss ions prepared by jun io r counsel for 
the accused appellant.

For the reasons enum era ted we hold tha t there is no merit in 1070 
his appea l and the eva luation o f evidence, the find ings and the  
convic tion indu lged in, reached and imposed respective ly by the
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learned trial Judge is who lly  jus tified  and law ful. In the result, we  
proceed to d ism iss the appea l o f the accused-appe llan t.

KULATILAKA, J. - I agree

Appeal Is dismissed.


